

OR Book/Page: 3756 / 0942

BYLAWS

OF

SANDY PINES PRESERVE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

(A Corporation Not for Profit Under the Laws of the State of Florida)

Sandy Crawford

ARTICLE 1

Clerk Of Courts, Brevard County

#Names: 2 #Pgs: 19

Rec: 77.00 Trust: 10.00

Deed: 0.00

Excise: 0.00 nt Tax: 0.00

GENERAL PROVISIONS

Identity. These are the Bylaws of SANDY PINES PRESERVE HOMEOWNERS 1.0 ASSOCIATION, INC., a corporation not for profit under the laws of the State of Florida (hereinafter referred to as the "Association"). The Articles of Incorporation of the Association were filed in the Office of the Secretary of State on the 7th day of November, 1997. The Association has been organized for the purpose of administering the operation and management of a single family residential community to be known generally as Sandy Pines Preserve Subdivision (hereinafter referred to as the "Project") to be developed by Sandy Pines Development Corporation, a Florida corporation (hereinafter referred to as the "Developer") in accordance with the Declaration of Covenants, Conditions and Restrictions for Sandy Pines Preserve Subdivision which will be recorded in the Public Records of Brevard County, Florida (hereinafter referred to as the "Declaration"). The Project is located upon certain property situate, lying, and being in Brevard County, Florida, more particularly described on Exhibit "A" to the Declaration (the "Property").

- Bylaws Subject to Other Documents. The provisions of these Bylaws are applicable to the Association, and are expressly subject to the terms, provisions, covenants, and conditions contained in the Articles of Incorporation of SANDY PINES PRESERVE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC. (hereinafter referred to as the "Articles"), and subject to the terms, provisions, covenants, and conditions contained in the Declaration.
- Applicability. All Lot Owners, their respective families, invitees, guests, and lessees, are subject to these Bylaws, the Articles and the Declaration.
- Office. The office of the Association shall be at 201 E. New Haven Avenue, Melbourne, Florida 32901, or at any other place designated from time to time by the Association.
- Seal. The seal of the Association shall bear the name of the Association, the word "Florida," the words, "Corporation not for Profit," and the year of incorporation.

Reinman & Wattwood → Victor S. Kostro, Esq. 1825 Jouth Riverview Dr. Melbourne, Fl 32901



1.5 Definitions.

ī

CFN 97222812 OR Book/Page: 3756 / 0943

(A) All definitions contained in the Declaration are hereby incorporated herein by this reference as though set forth in full herein.

(B) "Member" – Every Owner of a platted Lot (sometimes referred to as Parcel), including the Developer at all times as long as it owns a Lot, shall be a Member of the Association, provided that any such person or entity who holds such interest only as security for the performance of an obligation shall not be a Member. Membership shall be appurtenant to, and may not be separated from, ownership of any Lot.

ARTICLE 2

MEMBERSHIP, VOTING, QUORUM, PROXIES

- 2.0 Qualification of Members, etc. The qualification of Members, the manner of their admission to membership and termination of such membership and voting by Members, shall be determined by the provisions set forth in the Declaration, the Articles and in these Bylaws.
- 2.1 Quorum. The number of votes needed for a quorum on any vote in person or by certified written ballot of the Association shall be a minimum of 30% of the sum of all the votes held by qualified Class A members and Class B members for any ballot to be valid. All matters to be voted on by the Association shall require a quorum and shall be decided by a majority of those votes cast by owners represented by the quorum.
- 2.2 <u>Classes of Voting Membership</u>. The Homeowners Association shall have two classes of voting membership.
- Class A. Class A Members shall be all Owners, with the exception of the Developer, and shall be entitled to one vote of each Lot owner. When more than one person holds an interest in any Lot, all such persons shall be members, as more fully described in Section 2.3, but in no event shall more than one vote be cast with respect to any Lot. Class A Members shall also include all owners, with the exception of the Developer, of plotted Lots in additional phases if additional phases are subjected to these restrictions as elsewhere provided in these Bylaws.

Class B. The Class B Member shall be the Developer or successor developer and shall be entitled to ten (10) votes for each Lot owned (to include each owned lot in additional phases if additional phases are subjected to these restrictions as elsewhere provided in these Bylaws). The Class B membership shall cease and be converted to Class A membership on the happening of either of the following events, whichever occurs earlier.

- Three (3) months after 90% of the residential lots in all phases of the subdivision have been conveyed by the developer (or successor developer) to Members (excluding conveyances to builders, contractors, or others who purchase lots for the purpose of constructing improvements thereon for resale); or
 - Upon the election of the Developer or successor Developer; or (B)
 - (C) January 1, 2005.

2.3 Voting Member, Corporation, or Multiple Ownership of a Lot.

- If a Lot is owned by more than one (1) person, then the person entitled to cast the vote for the Lot shall be designated by a voting certificate signed by all of the record owners of the Lot and filed with the Secretary of the Association. The person entitled to cast a vote pursuant to such voting certificate shall be designated as the "Voting Member." Such person shall be one of the record title owners of the Lot or the corporate, partnership, or entity representative of the record title owner. Such voting certificate shall be valid until revoked in writing or until superseded by a subsequent voting certificate or until a change occurs in the ownership of the Lot. A voting certificate designating the person entitled to cast the vote for a Lot may be revoked by any record owner of an undivided interest in the Lot. If a certificate designating the person entitled to cast the vote for a Lot is required, but is not on file or has been revoked, the vote attributable to such Lot shall not be considered in determining whether a quorum is present, nor for any other purpose, and the total number of authorized votes in the Association shall be reduced accordingly until such voting certificate is filed, except if the Lot is owned jointly by a husband and wife, they may, but shall not be required to, designate one spouse as a Voting Member in the manner provided above. In the event a husband and wife do not so designate a Voting Member, the following provisions shall apply:
- If both spouses are present at a meeting and are able to concur in their decision upon any subject requiring a vote, either one may cast the Lot vote; or
- If both spouses are present at a meeting and are unable to concur in their decision upon any subject requiring a vote, they shall lose their right to vote on that subject at that meeting, and their vote shall not be considered in determining whether a quorum is present on that subject at the meeting (and the total number of authorized votes in the Association shall be reduced accordingly for such subject only); or
- If only one spouse is present at a meeting, the person present shall (iii) be counted for purposes of a quorum and may cast the Lot vote just as though he or she owned the Lot individually, and without establishing the concurrence of the absent person. Unless both spouses attempt to cast conflicting votes or unless a spouse announces to the meeting prior to or during the vote on a subject that both spouses are present at the meeting and are not able to concur in their decision, then the spouse actually voting shall be deemed to have had valid authority therefor.

- If a corporation, partnership, or other entity (i.e., not a natural person) is the owner of a Lot, then the voting certificate as provided for herein shall be executed (i) by the president or vice-president thereof and shall be attested to by the secretary or other officer, if a corporation, or (ii) by the duly authorized partners, officers, or other representatives, if the Lot is owned by some other legal entity.
- Voting; Proxies. Voting will be allowed by certified written mail-in ballot on 2.4 all issues that require a vote by the full Association. Votes may be cast in person or by proxy. All proxies shall be in writing; shall specifically set forth in the name of the person voting by proxy, the name of the person authorized to vote the proxy for him, the date the proxy was given, the date, time, and place of the meeting for which the proxy is given, and if a limited proxy, set forth those items in connection with which the holder of the proxy may vote, and the manner in which the vote is cast; shall be signed by the person entitled to vote; shall be filed with the Secretary of the Association prior to or at the meeting at which they are to be used; and shall only be effective for the specific meeting for which originally given and any lawfully adjourned meetings thereof. In no event shall any proxy be valid for a period longer than ninety (90) days after the date of the first meeting for which it was given. Every proxy shall be revocable at any time at the pleasure of the person executing it. Holders of proxies need not be Members, but no person other than a designee of the Developer may hold more than fifteen (15) proxies. Where a Lot is owned jointly by a husband and wife, and they have not designated one of themselves as a Voting Member, a proxy must be signed by both in order to designate a third person as proxy. Where a Lot is owned by more than one person (other than a husband and wife) or by a corporation, partnership, or other entity, the proxy must be signed by the Voting Member.
- 2.5 Voting. In any meeting of Members, the Owner of each Lot, subject to the provisions of Paragraph 2.2 hereof, shall be entitled to cast one (1) vote. The vote of a Lot shall not be divisible. The maximum number of votes that may be cast is the sum of all votes held by qualified Class A members and the Class B member either present in person or by written proxy at the time the vote is taken at a meeting or by actual recorded ownership of platted Lots if by certified written ballot.
- Majority Vote. The acts approved by a majority of the Members present or by proxy at a meeting at which a quorum shall have been attained shall be binding upon all Members for all purposes, except as otherwise provided by law, the Declaration, the Article or these Bylaws.

ARTICLE 3

ANNUAL AND SPECIAL MEETINGS OF MEMBERSHIP: PROVISO

Annual Meeting. Until the Turnover Date, as defined in Section 4.1(f) of these Bylaws, no annual meeting of the Members shall be held. After the Turnover Date, the annual meeting of the Members shall be held on the date, at the place and at the time determined by the Board of Directors from time to time, provided that there shall be an annual meeting every

calendar year, to the extent possible, not later than twelve (12) months after the last preceding annual meeting. The purpose of the meeting shall be, except as provided herein to the contrary, to transact any business authorized to be transacted by the Members, or as stated in the notice of the meeting sent to the Members in advance thereof. Unless changed by the Board of Directors, the first annual meeting of the Members shall be held at 10:00 (10:00) o'clock a.m., Eastern Standard Time, on the second Tuesday of the month of October following the year in which the Declaration is filed; provided, however, if that day is a legal holiday, the meeting shall be held at the same hour on the next succeeding day that is not a Saturday, Sunday or legal holiday.

- Special Meeting. Special meetings of the Members shall be held on the date, at 3.1 the place, and at the time determined by the Board of Directors from time to time and may be called by the President or Secretary or by a majority of the Board of Directors and must be called by the President or Secretary upon receipt of a written request from one-fourth (1/4) of the Members of the Association. The business conducted at a special meeting shall be limited to the purpose of purposes stated in the notice of the meeting.
- Notice of Meeting; Waiver of Notice. Notice of all meetings of the Members, whether regular or special, shall be given by the President, Vice President, or Secretary of the Association, or in the absence of such Officers, by any other Officer of the Association to each Member unless such notice is waived in writing. Such notice shall be written and shall state the time, place, and purpose of purposes for which the meeting is called. Such notice shall be hand delivered or mailed to each Member not less than ten (10) days nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date set for such meeting. An Officer of the Association shall provide an affidavit to be included in the official records of the Association affirming that a notice of the Association meeting was mailed or hand delivered to each Member at the last address furnished to the Association. Notice of a meeting, if mailed, shall be deemed to be properly given when deposited in the United States mail, first class, postage prepaid, and addressed to the Member at his post office address as it appears on the records of the Association. Notice of annual or special meetings may be waived by Members before or after the meeting and the attendance of any Member for person authorized to vote for such Member) shall constitute such Member's waiver of notice of such meeting, except when his (or his authorized representative's) attendance is for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the transaction of business because the meeting is not lawfully called.
- Adjourned Meeting. If any meeting of the Members cannot be convened because 3.3 of a quorum is not present, the Members who are present, either in person or by proxy, may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum is present. No further notice of the adjourned meeting is required if the time and place to which the meeting is adjourned are announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken, provided, that if, after the adjournment, the Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, fixes a new date for the adjourned meeting other than the date announced at the meeting at which the adjournment is taken, a notice of the adjourned meeting shall be given to each Member not less than ten (10) days nor more

than sixty (60) days before the date of the meeting. Except as otherwise provided herein, proxies given for the adjourned meeting shall be valid for newly rescheduled meetings unless revoked.

- Chairman. At meeting of the Members, the President of the Association shall preside. In the absence of the President, the Officers of the Association shall designate one of their number to preside.
- Order of Business. The order of business at annual meetings of the Members 3.5 and, so far as practical, at any other meetings of the Members, shall be:
 - Call to order by Chairman; (A)
 - Roll call and quorum determination; (B)
 - Proof of notice of meeting or waiver of notice; (C)
 - Reading of minutes of prior meeting; (D)
 - Reports of Officers, Committees, and employees or agents; (E)
 - (F) Elections;

٠,-

- Unfinished business; (G)
- New business; and (H)
- Adjournment. (I)
- Minutes of Meetings. The minutes of all meetings of the Members shall be kept in a book available for inspection at any reasonable time by Members of the Association or their representatives duly authorized in writing and by Board Members. The Association shall retain these minutes for a period of not less than seven (7) years.

ARTICLE 4

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Management of Association. The affairs of the Association shall be governed 4.0 by a Board of Directors.

4.1 **Board of Directors:**

- The Board of Directors shall consist of not less than three (3) nor more than seven (7) Directors. The initial Board of Directors shall consist of three (3) Directors. The Board shall continue to consist of three (3) Directors until changed by majority vote of the membership. Directors need not be Lot Owners.
- The first Board of Directors shall consist of persons designated by the Developer. Notwithstanding the voting rights given to the Members in Paragraph 2.2 herein, the Developer shall have the right to designate all persons on the Board of Directors until the occurrence of the Turnover Date. At the Turnover Date, the Board of Directors shall cause to be mailed to all Members a form upon which each Member shall be entitled to nominate one

CFN 97222812 OR Book/Page: 3756 / 0947

person for each Director position and the Members shall be entitled to elect at least a majority of the Board of Directors. The nomination form shall be returnable to the Association within fifteen (15) days of its mailing by the Association; nomination forms received after said fifteen (15) days shall be null and void. The Developer may nominate one (1) person for each Director position and shall be entitled to elect at least one member to the Board of Directors as long as Developer holds at least five (5) percent of the lots for sale in the ordinary course of business. Within fifteen (15) days after the date upon which nomination forms are required to be received by the Board of Directors, the Board of Directors shall mail to each Member a ballot containing the names of each nominee for the Board of Directors and appropriate space for write-in votes. Each Member shall be entitled to vote for one person for each Director position. The ballot shall be signed and dated by the Member. The ballots shall be returned to the Association Secretary not earlier than fifteen (15) days and not later than thirty (30) days after the date the ballot is mailed, as determined by the Board of Directors. Each ballot shall constitute a written consent within the meaning of Section 617.0701, Florida Statutes, and shall be filed with the minutes of proceedings of Members. The ballots shall not be effective to elect a Board of Directors unless ballots properly signed and dated are received from a majority of Members. The Association Secretary shall tabulate the ballots and provide written notice to each Member within ten (10) days of the date established for the receipt of ballots by the Association of the names of the Directors elected pursuant hereto, or if the number of ballots received were insufficient to elect a Board of Directors, the existing Board of Directors, in its discretion, may call a meeting of Members to elect Directors or may repeat the process above described until a Board of Directors is elected.

- Within a reasonable time after the Turnover Date, the Developer shall (C) relinquish control of the Association and the Members shall accept control.
- The Developer shall have the absolute right at any time, in its sole discretion, to remove any member of the Board of Directors designated by the Developer and to replace any such member with another person to serve on the Board. Removal and replacement of any person designated by Developer to serve on the Board of Directors shall be made by written instrument delivered to any Officer of the Association, which instrument shall specify the name of the person to be removed, and the name of the person designated as successor to the person so removed from the Board. The removal of any Director and designation of his successor shall be effective immediately upon delivery of such written instrument by the Developer to any Officer of the Association, and shall be inserted in the minute book of the Association.
- (E) The Developer may turn over control of the Association to the Members other than the Developer prior to the Turnover Date in its sole discretion by causing all of its appointed Directors to resign, where upon it shall be the affirmative obligation of the Members other than the Developer to elect Directors and assume control of the Association. Provided at least thirty (30) days notice of Developer's decision to cause its appointees to resign is given to the Members, neither the Developer, nor such appointees, shall be liable in any manner in connection

7

with such resignations even if the Members other than the Developer refuse or otherwise fail to assume control.

- The "Turnover Date" is defined as the earlier of: (F)
- Three (3) months after ninety percent (90%) of the residential lots in all phases of the development have been conveyed by the Developer (or Successor Developer) to Members (excluding conveyances to builders, contractors, or others who purchase lots for the purpose of constructing improvements thereon for resale); or
 - At such time as the Developer so elects; or (ii)
 - (iii) January 1, 2005.

Developer may add additional properties and phases consisting of additional Lots to the development as set forth in the Declaration.

- Election of Directors. Election of Members of the Board of Directors, other than those designated by the Developer, shall be conducted in the following manner:
- Election of Members of the Board of Directors shall be held at the annual meeting of the Members of the Association, except the elections required by paragraph 4.1(B) hereof.
- (B) A Nominating Committee of three (3) Members shall be appointed by the Board not less than sixty (60) days prior to the annual meeting. The Committee shall nominate one (1) person for each vacancy to be filled. Nominations for additional Directorships, if any, created at the meeting shall be made from the floor. Other nominations may be made from the floor.
- The election shall be by written ballot (unless dispensed with by unanimous consent) and by a plurality of the votes cast, each person voting being entitled to cast his vote or votes for each of any nominees as there are vacancies to be filled. There shall be no cumulative voting.
- At any time after a majority of the Board is elected by Members (D) (i) other than the Developer, any member of the Board may be recalled and removed from office with or without cause by the vote of a majority of all Members of the Association. A successor may then and there be elected to fill the vacancy created. Should the membership at such meeting, having removed any Directors from office, then fail to elect a successor at such meeting, the Board may fill the vacancy in the manner elsewhere provided herein.
- A special meeting of the Members to recall a member or members of the Board may be called by thirty (30%) percent of the Members of the Association giving



notice of the meeting as required for a meeting of Members of the Association, and the notice shall state the purpose of the meeting. If the recall is approved by a majority of the Lot Owners by vote at a meeting, the recall will be effective immediately, and the recalled member or members of the Board shall turn over to the Board any or all records of the Association in their possession within seventy-two (72) hours after the meeting.

- (E) If the office of any Director becomes vacant by reason of death, resignation, retirement, disqualification, removal from office, or otherwise, a majority of the remaining Directors, though less than a quorum, shall choose a successor who shall hold office for the balance of the unexpired term of office. The election held for the purpose of filling any such vacancy may be held at any regular or special meeting of the Board.
- (F) Any Director may resign at any time by sending a written notice of such resignation to the office of the Association, addressed to the President or Secretary. Unless otherwise specified therein, such resignation shall take effect upon receipt thereof by the Association. The acceptance of a resignation shall not be required to make it effective. Commencing with the organizational meeting of any newly elected Board of Directors, four (4) consecutive absences, unless expressly excused by resolution of the Board, shall automatically constitute a resignation from the Board of Directors. No member shall continue to serve on the Board should he be more than ninety (90) days delinquent in the payment of any Assessment. Such delinquency shall automatically constitute a resignation from the Board. All of these regulations are self-operating and shall become effective immediately upon the happening of the event or the passage of the time provided for herein.
- 4.3 <u>Term.</u> Except as provided herein to the contrary, the term of each Director's service shall extend until the next annual meeting of the Members and subsequently until his successor is duly elected and has taken office, or until he is removed in the manner elsewhere provided herein.
- 4.4 <u>Organizational Meeting</u>. The organizational meeting of a newly elected Board shall be held within ten (10) days of their election, at such time and at such place and upon such notice as shall be fixed by the Directors.
- 4.5 <u>Regular Meetings</u>. Regular meetings of the Board may be held at such time and place as shall be determined from time to time by a majority of the Directors. Notice of regular meetings shall be delivered to each Director, personally or by mail, telephone, or telegram, at least three (3) days prior to the day named for such meeting, unless notice is waived.
- 4.6 <u>Special Meetings</u>. Special meetings of the Board may be called by the President, and must be called by the Secretary upon the written request of one-fourth (1/4) of the Members of the Board. Not less than three (3) days notice of a meeting shall be given to each Director, personally or by mail, which notice shall state the time, place, and purpose or purposes of the meeting.

CFN 97222812

- 4.7 <u>Waiver of Notice</u>. Any Director may waive notice of a meeting before or after the meeting, and such waiver shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of notice. Attendance by any Director at a meeting shall constitute a waiver of notice of such meeting, except when his attendance is for the express purpose of objecting at the beginning of the meeting to the transaction of business because the meeting is not lawfully called.
- 4.8 Quorum. A majority of the Directors of the Association, duly qualified and holding the office of Director, shall be required for and shall constitute a quorum at all meetings of the Board of Directors for the transaction of business, except as otherwise provided by law, the Declaration, the Articles or these Bylaws.
- 4.9 <u>Adjourned Meetings</u>. If at any meeting of the Board of Directors, there is less than a quorum present, the majority of those present may adjourn the meeting from time to time until a quorum is present. At any adjourned meeting any business that might have been transacted at the meeting as originally called may be transacted without further notice.
- 4.10 Action by Directors Without a Meeting. Any action which may be taken at a meeting of the Directors may be taken without a meeting, provided that consent in writing setting forth the action so to be taken is signed by all of the Directors and is filed in the minutes of the proceedings of the Board.
- 4.11 <u>Presiding Officer</u>. The presiding officer of the Directors' meetings shall be the President of the Association. In the absence of the President, the Directors present shall designate one of their number to preside.
 - 4.12 Order of Business. The order of business at Directors meetings shall be:
 - (A) Call to order by presiding officers;
 - (B) Roll call and quorum determination;
 - (C) Proof of notice of meeting or waiver of notice;
 - (D) Reading of minutes of prior meeting;
 - (E) Reports of Officers, Committees, and employees or agents;
 - (F) Resignations and elections of Officers;
 - (G) Unfinished business;
 - (H) New business; and
 - (I) Adjournment.
- 4.13 <u>Minutes of Meetings</u>. The minutes of all meetings of the Board of Directors shall be kept in a book available for inspection at any reasonable time by Members of the Association or their representative duly authorized in writing and by Board Members. The Association shall retain these minutes for a period of not less than seven (7) years.
- 4.14 <u>Compensation</u>. No Director shall receive compensation for serving in such capacity; provided, however, this shall not be constructed to preclude a Director from serving the

10

]][]]

Association in any other capacity (other than as an Officer) and receiving compensation therefor. The compensation of all employees of the Association shall be fixed by the Board of Directors.

- Powers and Duties. Except as otherwise provided herein, by law, in the Declaration, or in the Articles, all of the powers and duties of the Association shall be exercised by the Board of Directors.
- 4.16 Place of Meetings. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, any meeting of Members or Directors may be held at any place within or outside of the State of Florida.
- Proviso. Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, the Directors 4.17 shall not have the right or authority to do any act or take any actions wherein the same would limit, modify, or abridge the rights, privileges, and immunities of the Developer or of the construction lender or its assigns in the event the construction lender has taken control of the project by foreclosure or deed in lieu of foreclosure, as set forth in the Declaration, the Articles or these Bylaws.

4.18 Committees.

- The Board may, by resolution, also create other committees and invest such (A) committees with such powers and responsibilities as the Board shall deem advisable.
- Notwithstanding anything contained herein to the contrary, an executive committee or any other committee created by the Board of Directors shall not have the power to determine the Common Expenses required for the affairs of the Association or to determine the Assessments payable by the Lot Owners to meet the Common Expenses of the Association.

ARTICLE 5

OFFICERS

- 5.0 Generally. The Officers of the Association shall be a President, one or more Vice Presidents, a Secretary, a Treasurer, and one or more Assistant Secretaries, all of whom shall be elected annually by the Board and who may be peremptorily removed by a majority vote of the Directors at any meeting. The Board may from time to time elect other Officers and designate appropriate powers and duties to them. Officers need not be Members.
- President. The President shall be the chief executive Officer of the Association. 5.1 He shall have all of the powers and duties which are usually vested in the office of president of an association. The President shall be a member of the Board.
- Vice President. The Vice President shall, in the absence or disability of the President, exercise the powers and perform the duties of the President. He shall also generally

11

assist the President and exercise such other powers and perform such other duties as shall be prescribed by the Directors or the President.

- 5.3 Secretary. The Secretary shall keep the minutes of all proceedings of the Directors and the Members. He shall attend to the giving of all notices to the Members and Directors and other notices required by law. He shall have custody of the seal of the Association and shall affix it to instruments requiring the seal when duly signed. He shall keep the records of the Association, except those of the Treasurer, and shall perform all other duties incident to the office of secretary of an association and as may be prescribed by the Directors or the President.
- 5.4 <u>Treasurer</u>. The Treasurer shall have custody of all property of the Association, including funds, securities, and evidences of indebtedness. He shall keep books of account for the Association in accordance with good accounting practices, which, together with substantiating papers, shall be made available to the Board of Directors for examination at reasonable times. He shall submit a treasurer's report to the Board of Directors at reasonable intervals and shall perform all other duties incident to the office of treasurer of an association and as may be prescribed by the Directors or the President. All monies and other valuable effects shall be kept for the benefit of the Association in such depositories as may be designated by a majority of the Board of Directors.
- 5.5 <u>Compensation</u>. No Officer shall receive compensation for serving in such capacity; provided, however, this shall not be construed to preclude an Officer from serving the Association (other than as a Director) and receiving compensation therefor. The compensation of all employees of the Association shall be fixed by the Board of Directors.
- 5.6 <u>Resignations</u>. Any Officer may resign at any time, by sending written notice of such resignation to the President or Secretary. Unless otherwise specified therein, such resignation shall take effect upon receipt thereof by the President or Secretary. The acceptance of a resignation shall not be required to make it effective.

ARTICLE 6

FISCAL MANAGEMENT; COMMON EXPENSES

- 6.0 <u>Fiscal Management</u>. The provisions for fiscal management of the Association set forth in Article VIII of the Declaration shall be supplemented by the following provisions:
- 6.1 <u>Budget</u>. The Board of Directors shall from time to time, and at least annually, prepare a budget for the Association, determine the amount of Assessments payable by the Members to meet the Common Expenses of the Association, and allocate and assess such expenses among the Members in accordance with the provisions of the Declaration. The budget shall project anticipated income and estimated expenses in sufficient detail to show separate estimates of operating expenses, insurance, electricity, maintenance expenses, repairs, replacement

CFN 9722281

reserve and reasonable periodic maintenance, repair, improvements to and replacement of the Common Property and all other property which the Association is obligated to maintain, in addition to reasonable reserves for the continued maintenance and operation of any other items deemed necessary for the protection of Owners. The purposes of such accounts shall include, but not be limited to, periodic maintenance, repair, and replacement of the Common Property and all other property which the Association is obligated to maintain. The budget shall be adopted upon a majority vote of the Directors present at a meeting of the Board at which a quorum is attained.

6.2 Assessments. Funds for the payment of Common Expenses shall be assessed against the Members in the proportions or percentages provided in the Declaration. For each year thereafter, the Association shall fix the amount and the due date of the annual assessment. Initially, annual Assessments shall be payable in one annual installment. The Board shall notify the Owners of each Lot of the amount and the date which the Assessments are payable and the place of payment of Annual Assessments shall be uniform. Written Notice of the Assessment shall be sent to every Owner subject thereto not later than seven (7) days after fixing the date of commencement thereof. The Board may authorize payment of annual assessments on a monthly basis, payable in advance on the first day of each month of the year for which the Assessments are made. If annual Assessments are not made as required, Assessments shall be presumed to have been made in the amount of the last prior Assessments, and such Assessments shall continue to be due until changed by amended Assessments. In the event the annual Assessments prove to be insufficient, the budget and Assessments may be amended at any time by the Board of Directors. Unpaid Assessments for the remaining portion of the fiscal year for which amended Assessments are made shall be payable within thirty (30) days. Special Assessments, should such be required by the Board, shall be levied in the same manner as hereinbefore provided for regular Assessments, and shall be payable in the manner determined by the Board.

The Owners shall be personally liable, jointly and severally, to the Association for the payment of all Assessments, regular or special, made by the Association and for all costs of collection of delinquent Assessments. In the event Assessments against a Lot are not paid within sixty (60) days after their due date, there shall be a Twenty-Five Dollar (\$25.00) late fee for each such Assessment. In addition to the late fee, Assessments that are unpaid for more than thirty (30) days after due date shall bear interest at the rate of eighteen percent (18%) per annum from the due date until paid.

6.3 Depository; Withdrawals. The depository of the Association shall be such financial institution or institutions as shall be designated from time to time by the Board of Directors and in which the monies of the Association shall be deposited. Withdrawal of monies from such accounts shall be only by checks signed by such persons as are authorized by the Board. Should the Association employ a management firm or managing agent, and should in the course of such employment said management firm or managing agent be charged with any responsibilities concerning control of any of the funds of the Association, then and in such event, any such agreement with such a management firm or managing agent pertaining to the deposit



and withdrawal of monies shall supersede the provisions hereof during the term of any such agreement. All sums collected by the Association from Assessments or contributions to working capital or otherwise may be commingled in a single fund or divided into more than one fund, as determined by a majority of the Board of Directors.

- 6.4 <u>Audit</u>. An audit of the accounts of the Association may be made from time to time as directed by the Board of Directors. A copy of any audited report received as a result of an audit shall be furnished to each Member of the Association not more than thirty (30) days after receipt by the Board.
- 6.5 <u>Fiscal Year</u>. The fiscal year of the Association shall begin on the first day of January of each year; provided, however, the Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, is expressly authorized to adopt a different fiscal year.
- 6.6 Acceleration of Payment of Installments of Assessments. If a Member shall be in default in the payment of an installment upon any Assessment, the Board may accelerate the remaining installments for the fiscal year upon notice thereof to the Member and, thereupon, the unpaid balance of the Assessment shall become due upon the date stated in the notice, but not less than ten (10) days after the delivery of or the mailing of such notice to the Lot Owner.
- 6.7 <u>Accounting Records and Reports.</u> The Association shall maintain accounting records in the State of Florida, according to the generally accepted accounting practices, consistently applied. The records shall be open to inspection by Members of the Association and Institutional Mortgagees or their representatives duly authorized in writing at reasonable times.
- 6.8 <u>Application of Payment</u>. All payments made by a Member shall be applied as provided in these Bylaws and in the Declaration or as otherwise determined by the Board.
- 6.9 Violation by Member; Remedies. In the event of a violation (other than the nonpayment of an Assessment) by a Member of any of the provisions of the Declaration, the Articles, these Bylaws, or any Rules and Regulations adopted pursuant to the same, as the same may be amended or added to from time to time, the Association by direction of its Board, may notify the Member by written notice of said breach, transmitted by mail, and if such violation shall continue for a period of thirty (30) days from the date of the notice, the Association, through its Board, shall have the right to treat such violation as an intentional, inexcusable, and material breach of the Declaration, Articles, these Bylaws, or the Rules and Regulations, and the Association may then pursue any remedy available. Upon a finding by a court of record that the violation complained of has occurred, the offending Member shall reimburse the Association for its reasonable attorneys' fees and court costs incurred in bringing such action. Any violations which are deemed by the Board to be a hazard to public health or safety may be corrected immediately as an emergency matter by the Association, and the cost thereof shall be charged to the Member as a specific item, which shall be a lien against said Lot with the same force and effect as if the charge was a part of the Common Expenses attributable to such Member.

CFN 97222812 OR Book/Page: 3756 / 0955

- Liability of Lot Owners. All Members shall be liable for the expense of any maintenance, repair, or replacement rendered necessary by his act, neglect, or carelessness or by that of any member of his family, or his or their guests, invitees, employees, agents or lessees, but only to the extent that such expense is not met by the proceeds of insurance carried by the Association. Such liability shall include any increase in insurance rates occasioned by such act, neglect, or carelessness. Nothing herein contained, however, shall be construed so as to modify any waiver by insurance companies of rights of subrogation. The expense of any maintenance, repair, or replacement required, as provided herein, shall be charged to said Member as a specific item, which shall be a lien against said Lot with the same force and effect as if the charge was a part of the Common Expenses attributable to such Member.
- No Waiver. The failure of the Association or of a Member to enforce any right, provision, covenant, or condition, which may be granted by any of the provisions of any of the Articles, Declaration or in these Bylaws, as amended, shall not constitute a waiver of the right of the Association or Member to enforce such right, provision, covenant, or condition in the future.
- Acquisition of Lots. At any foreclosure sale of a Lot, the Board may acquire in the name of the Association, or its designee, the Lot being foreclosed. The term "foreclosure," as used in this Section, shall mean and include, but not be limited to, any foreclosure of any lien, including a lien for Assessments. The power of the Board to acquire a Lot at any foreclosure sale shall never be interpreted as a requirement or obligation on the part of the Board or of the Association to do so at any foreclosure sale - the provisions hereof being permissive in nature and for the purpose of setting forth the powers of the Board.
- 6.13 Default in Payment of Any Assessments; Lien. In the event of a default by a Member in the payment of any Assessment, the Association shall have all rights and remedies as set forth in the Declaration and in addition, all rights and remedies as provided by law. The liability of the Member shall include liability for a late charge to be determined by the Board, reasonable attorneys' fees, and for court costs incurred by the Association incident to the collection of such Assessment or the enforcement of its lien. If the Association elects to enforce its lien by foreclosure, the Member shall be required to pay a reasonable rental for the Lot, pendente lite, to be fixed by the Board, and the Association shall be entitled to the appointment of a receiver to collect same. Nothing herein contained shall be construed to limit the rights of the Association as provided for in the Declaration, Articles or otherwise in these Bylaws.

As to the priority between the lien of a recorded mortgage and the lien for an Assessment, the lien for an Assessment is hereby rendered subordinate and interior to any recorded mortgage, regardless when said Assessment was due, but not to any other mortgage. Failure to pay Assessments does not constitute a default under the terms of a federally insured mortgage. Nothing contained herein shall require mortgagees to collect Assessment.

Tax Election. The Association shall, through officers designated by the Board of Directors, file the necessary annual election to become a "homeowners association" as defined

in the Internal Revenue Code of 1993, Section 528, or similar provisions of corresponding law subsequently enacted, exempt from income tax as therein provided. The Association shall be operated at all times to maintain its eligibility for tax-exempt status.

ARTICLE 7 **ROSTER OF MEMBERS**

7.0 Roster. Each Member shall file with the Association a copy of the deed or other documents evidencing his ownership. The Association shall maintain such information. The Association may rely upon the accuracy of such information for all purposes until notified in writing of changes therein as provided above. Only Members of record on the date notice of any meeting requiring their vote is given shall be entitled to notice of and to vote at such meeting, unless prior to such meeting other Members shall produce adequate evidence, as provided above, of their interest and shall waive in writing notice of such meeting.

ARTICLE 8 PARLIAMENTARY RULES, ROBERTS RULES OF ORDER

Governance of Conduct. Parliamentary Rules, Roberts Rules of Order (latest 8.0 edition) shall govern the conduct of the Association proceedings when not in conflict with the Articles, Declaration, Bylaws of this Association, as amended or the laws of the State of Florida.

ARTICLE 9 AMENDMENTS TO BYLAWS

- Amendments. These Bylaws may be altered, amended, or rescinded only in the 9.0 following manner:
- Amendments by Developer. At any time the Developer's designees constitute two-thirds (2/3) of the Board's Directors, the Bylaws may be amended only by the majority vote of the Board of Directors.
- Amendments by Members. At any time the Developer's designees do not 9.2 constitute two-thirds (2/3) of the Board's Directors, a resolution adopting a proposed amendment to these Bylaws may be proposed by either the Board of Directors acting upon a vote of the majority of the Directors, or by Members of the Association owning not less than one-third (1/3) of the Lots, whether meeting as Members or by instrument in writing signed by them. Upon any amendment or amendments to these Bylaws being proposed by said Board of Directors or Members, such proposed amendment or amendments shall be transmitted to the President of the Association or other Officer of the Association in the absence of the President, who shall thereupon call a special meeting of the Members of the Association for a date not sooner than twenty (20) days nor later than ninety (90) days from receipt by him of the proposed amendment or amendments, and it shall be the duty of the Secretary to give each member written or printed notice of such special meeting, stating the time and place thereof, and describing or reciting the

proposed amendment or amendments which notice shall be mailed not less than fourteen (14) days nor more than thirty (30) days before the date set for such special meeting. If mailed, such notice shall be deemed to be properly given when deposited in the United States Mail, addressed to the member at his post office address as it appears on the records of the Association, the postage thereon being prepaid. Any member may, by written waiver of notice signed by such member, waive such notice, and such waiver, when filed in the records of the Association, whether before or after the holding of the meeting, shall be deemed equivalent to the giving of such notice to such member.

At such meeting, the amendment or amendments proposed must be approved by an affirmative vote of Members holding at least a two-thirds (2/3) vote of the total number of members of the Association entitled to vote thereon, in order for such amendment or amendments to become effective. Thereupon, such amendment or amendments shall be transcribed and certified by the President and Secretary of the Association as having been duly adopted. Thereafter, a copy of aid amendment or amendments shall be delivered to all Members but delivery of a copy thereof shall not be a condition precedent to the effectiveness of such amendment or amendments. At any meeting held to consider such amendment or amendments, the written vote of any member if not in attendance at such meeting or represented there by proxy shall be valid, provided such written vote is delivered to the Secretary of the Association at or prior to such meeting.

- 9.3 <u>Conflicts</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereinabove set forth, no amendment of these Bylaws which shall abridge, modify, eliminate, prejudice, limit, amend, or alter the rights of the Developer as set forth in the Declaration may be adopted or become effective without the prior written consent of the Developer. No amendment shall be made that is in conflict with the Articles of Incorporation or the Declaration.
- 9.4 Governmental Approval of Certain Amendments. So long as there is a Class B membership, the following actions shall require the prior approval of the Department of Housing and Urban Development, Federal Housing Administration or the Veterans Administration: annexation of additional properties; dedication of Common Areas; amendment of these Bylaws; merger and/or consolidation of this Corporation; mortgaging of any Common Areas in the Project; or dissolution of the Corporation.

ARTICLE 10 INDEMNIFICATION

10.0 <u>Indemnification</u>. The Directors and Officers of the Association shall be indemnified by the Association pursuant to the indemnification provisions of Article 12 of the Articles of Incorporation, which by this reference are incorporated herein and made a part hereof.

CFN 97222812 OR Book/Page: 3756 / 0958

ARTICLE 11

MEMBER'S RESPONSIBILITY CONCERNING LIENS AND TAXES

- 11.0 <u>Liens and Taxes</u>. All liens against a Lot, other than for permitted mortgages and non-delinquent taxes and special assessments, shall be satisfied or otherwise removed within ten (10) days of the date the lien attaches. All taxes and special assessments upon a Lot shall be paid within the time limits provided in the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or by law, whichever is sooner.
- 11.1 <u>Notice to Association</u>. A Member shall give notice to the Association of every lien upon his Lot, other than for permitted mortgages and non-delinquent taxes and special assessments, within five (5) days after the attaching of the lien.
- 11.2 <u>Notice of Suit</u>. A Member shall give notice to the Association of every suit or other proceeding which will or may affect title to his Lot or any part of the Property, such notice to be given within five (5) days after the Member receives notice thereof.
- 11.3 <u>Failure to Comply.</u> Failure to comply with this Article concerning liens will not affect the validity of any judicial sale.

ARTICLE 12 RULES AND REGULATIONS

- 12.0 As to Common Property. The Board may, from time to time, adopt or amend previously adopted Rules and Regulations governing the details of the operation, use, maintenance, management, and control of the Common Property and any facilities or services made available to the Members.
- 12.1 As to Lots. To the extent permitted by law, the Board of Directors may, from time to time, adopt or amend previously adopted Rules and Regulations governing and restricting the use and maintenance of the Lots, provided, however, that copies of such Rules and Regulations are furnished to each Member prior to the time the same become effective.
- 12.2 <u>Rights of Developer</u>. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary hereinabove set forth, no rule or regulation may be adopted which would abridge, modify, eliminate, prejudice, limit, amend or alter the rights reserved to the Developer in the Declaration, Articles of Incorporation, these Bylaws, or Rules and Regulations.

CFN 97222812 OR Book/Page: 3756 / 0959

ARTICLE 13 CONSTRUCTION

- Gender. Whenever the masculine singular form of the pronoun is used in these Bylaws, it shall be construed to mean the masculine, feminine, or neuter, singular or plural, wherever the context so requires.
- Severability. Should any of the provisions contained herein (or portion thereof) be void or be or become unenforceable at law or in equity, the remaining provisions of this instrument shall, nevertheless, be and remain in full force and effect.

ARTICLE 14 CONFLICT

Conflict. If any irreconcilable conflict should exist, or hereafter arise, with respect to the interpretation of these Bylaws and the Declaration or Articles of Incorporation, the provisions of the Declaration or Articles of Incorporation shall prevail.

ARTICLE 15 **CAPTIONS**

Captions. The captions herein are inserted only as a matter of convenience and for reference, and in no way define, limit or describe the scope of these Bylaws or the intent of any provisions hereof.

The foregoing were adopted as the Bylaws of SANDY PINES PRESERVE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC., a corporation not for profit established under the laws of the State of Florida, at the first meeting of the Board of Directors on the 18th day of December, 1997.

> SANDY PINES PRESERVE HOMEOWNERS ASSOCIATION, INC.

(Seal)